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IN THE
THE UNITED
UNITED STATES
STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
WESTERN
DIVISION
WESTERN DIVISION

JOSE
G. CUARENTA-RAMOS,
CUARENTA-RAMOS, J.
JOSE G.
CARMEN
CARMEN PENA-MARES,
PENA-MARES, JOSE
JOSE
RODRIGUEZ-HERNANDEZ,
RODRIGUEZ-HERNANDEZ, and
PEDRO
YANEZ-VAZQUEZ,
PEDRO YANEZ-VAZQUEZ,

Plaintiffs,
vs.
vs.

JACK
JACK ODOM
ODOM D/B/A ODOM FARMS,
Defendant.

§
§
§
§
§
§ CIVIL
CIVILACTION
ACTIONNO.
NO.___________
___________
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

PLAINTIFFS’
PLAINTIFFS’ ORIGINAL
ORIGINALCOMPLAINT
COMPLAINT
PRELIMINARY
PRELIMINARYSTATEMENT
STATEMENT
1.
1.

Four agricultural
agricultural guestworkers
guestworkers bring this civil
civilaction
actionfor
fordamages
damages and
and

declaratory
relief. The
declaratory relief.
The Plaintiffs,
Plaintiffs,citizens
citizens of
ofMexico,
Mexico,were
weretrafficked
traffickedby
byDefendant
Defendant Jack
Jack
Odom to Lonoke County,
County, Arkansas.
Arkansas. There,
There, Defendant
Defendant Jack
Jack Odom confiscated their
passports
and confined
confined them
them to
to an
an infested,
infested, filthy,
filthy, and
passports and
anddangerous
dangerous metal
metal storage
storage shed
shed

when they were
were not
not working.
working. The
Theshed
shed was freezing in the late fall and extremely hot in
summer and
and early
early fall.
fall. The
Theshed
shed was
was filled
filledwith
withsweet
sweetpotatoes,
potatoes, sweet
sweet potato worms,

machines,
anddangerous
dangerousindustrial
industrialfluids
fluids that
thatmade
madethe
theworkers
workerssick.
sick. The
The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs
machines, and

were forced to labor under
under conditions
conditions violating
violating federal immigration
immigration and
and labor law
law and
and
contrary
contrary to
to their
their employment
employmentcontracts
contractsand
and were
were subjected
subjected to
to frequent
frequent verbal
verbalabuse
abuse and
and

harassment.
Despite these
theseconditions,
conditions,the
thePlaintiffs,
Plaintiffs, dependent
dependent on
on the
theH-2A
H-2A system
for
harassment. Despite
system for
their
that they
they
their livelihoods,
livelihoods,stayed
stayedon
onthe
thefarm
farmbecause
because Defendant
Defendant Jack
Jack Odom
Odom threatened
threatened that

would
able to
to return
return to
to the
the United
United States
Stateslegally
legally ifif they left.
would never
never be able
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2.
2.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs bring
bring this
this action
action to
to vindicate
vindicate rights
rights afforded
afforded them
them by
by the

Trafficking
Trafficking Victims
VictimsProtection
Protection Act
Act(“TVPA”),
(“TVPA”),1818U.S.C.
U.S.C.§ §1581
1581etetseq.,
seq., the
the Fair Labor
Standards
Act (“FLSA”),
(“FLSA”), 29
seq., and
and state
state contract law.
Standards Act
29U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§201
201etetseq.,

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
3.
3.

This Court has jurisdiction
jurisdiction pursuant
(conferring
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (conferring

jurisdiction
jurisdictionover
overclaims
claimsarising
arisingunder
underthe
the laws
laws of
ofthe
theUnited
UnitedStates)
States) and
and 28 U.S.C. § 1337

(conferring
(conferring jurisdiction
jurisdictionover
overclaims
claimsarising
arisingunder
underacts
acts of
ofCongress
Congress regulating
regulating commerce).
4.
4.

This
This action
action is
is authorized
authorized by
by and
and instituted
instituted pursuant
pursuant to
to 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 1595(a)
1595(a)

(conferring jurisdiction
jurisdictionover
over claims
claims arising
arising under
under the TVPA)
TVPA) and
and 29
29 U.S.C. § 216(b)

(conferring jurisdiction
FLSA).
jurisdiction over
over claims
claims arising
arising under the FLSA).
5.
5.

This Court
supplemental jurisdiction
jurisdiction pursuant
Court has
has supplemental
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367

over
over the
the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’state
statelaw
lawclaims
claimsbecause
because the
the state
state law
law claims
claims are
are so
so related
related to
to the
the

federal claims that they form part of the same
caseororcontroversy
controversyunder
underArticle
Article III
III of
same case
of the

U.S. Constitution.
6.
6.

This
This Court
Court is
is empowered
empowered to
to issue
issue aa declaratory judgment pursuant
pursuant to 28
28

U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§
§§ 2201
2201 and
and 2202.

7.
7.

This
personal jurisdiction
jurisdiction over
This Court
Court has
has personal
over Defendant
Defendant Jack
Jack Odom.
Odom.

8.
8.

Venue is proper in this district
district pursuant
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

PARTIES
9.
9.

Plaintiffs
PlaintiffsJose
Jose Guadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos,
Cuarenta-Ramos, J.J. Carmen
Carmen Pena-Mares,
Pena-Mares, Jose
Jose

Rodriguez-Hernandez,
and Pedro
Pedro Yanez-Vazquez
Yanez-Vazquez are
arecitizens
citizensof
of Mexico
Mexico who reside
Rodriguez-Hernandez, and
reside in

Celaya, Guanajuato,
Guanajuato, Mexico.
Mexico.
10.
10.

At
Plaintiffs were
At all
all times
times relevant
relevant to this action, the Plaintiffs
were temporary non-

immigrant
immigrant agricultural
agricultural workers
workers lawfully
lawfullyadmitted
admittedtotothe
theUnited
UnitedStates
States pursuant
pursuant to 8

U.S.C. §§ 1101(a)(15)(H)(ii)(a).
1101(a)(15)(H)(ii)(a).
11.
11.

At
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were “employees” of
At all
all times
times relevant
relevant to this action, the

Defendant Jack
Jack Odom
Odom within
within the
the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 203(e).
12.
12.

At
At all
all times
times relevant
relevant to
to this
this action,
action, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffswere
wereengaged
engaged in the

production of
of goods
goods for
for commerce
commerce within
withinthe
the meaning
meaning of
of 29
29 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§
§§ 203
203 and
and 206.
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13.
13.

Defendant
Jack Odom
Odom (“Defendant”)
(“Defendant”) isis aa natural
in
Defendant Jack
natural person
person who
who resides
resides in

Lonoke
Lonoke County,
County, Arkansas.
Arkansas. The
TheDefendant
Defendantowns
ownsand
andoperates
operates Odom
Odom Farms,
Farms, an
an
agribusiness
located in
in Lonoke
Lonoke County,
County, Arkansas
engaged in
in growing,
growing, packing,
agribusiness located
Arkansas and
and engaged
packing, and
and
selling
selling sweet
sweet potatoes.
potatoes.

14.
14.

At
Defendant was
was the
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’
At all
all times
times relevant
relevant to this action, the Defendant

“employer”
“employer” within
withinthe
themeaning
meaning of
of 29
29 U.S.C.
U.S.C. § 203(d).

STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF
OF FACTS
15.
15.

For
2006, 2007,
2007, and
and 2008
2008 seasons,
seasons,the
theDefendant
Defendantfiled
filed H-2A
H-2A visa
For the
the 2006,
visa

applications with
with the
the U.S. Department of Labor, seeking workers for the Defendant’s
sweet
potato farm
farm in
in Austin,
Austin, Arkansas.
sweet potato
Arkansas.
16.
16.

For
theDefendant
Defendant obtained
obtained H-2A
H-2A guestworker
For the
the 2006
2006 season,
season, the
guestworker visas
visas

from
from the
the U.S.
U.S. Department
Department of
of Labor
Laborfor
forPlaintiffs
PlaintiffsJose
JoseGuadalupe
GuadalupeCuarenta-Ramos,
Cuarenta-Ramos, Jose
Jose
Rodriguez-Hernandez,
Rodriguez-Hernandez, and
and Pedro
Pedro Yanez-Vazquez.
17.
17.

For
theDefendant
Defendant obtained
obtained H-2A
H-2A guestworker
For the
the 2007
2007 season,
season, the
guestworker visas
visas

from
from the
the U.S.
U.S. Department
Department of
of Labor
Laborfor
forPlaintiffs
PlaintiffsJose
JoseGuadalupe
GuadalupeCuarenta-Ramos,
Cuarenta-Ramos, J.
J.
Carmen
Jose Rodriguez-Hernandez,
Rodriguez-Hernandez, and
and Pedro
Pedro Yanez-Vazquez.
Yanez-Vazquez.
Carmen Pena-Mares,
Pena-Mares, Jose

18.
18.

For
theDefendant
Defendant obtained
obtained an
anH-2A
H-2A guestworker visa
For the
the 2008
2008 season,
season, the
visa

from
from the
the U.S. Department of
of Labor
Labor for
forPlaintiff
PlaintiffJose
JoseGuadalupe
GuadalupeCuarenta-Ramos.
Cuarenta-Ramos.
19.
19.

Since
at least
least 2005,
2005, the
the Defendant
Defendant has
used aaMexican
Mexican national
national named
Since at
has used
named

Angel Rico
control, and
and otherwise
otherwiseinteract
interactwith
with H-2A
H-2A
Rico to
to recruit,
recruit, transport,
transport, supervise,
supervise, control,
guestworkers
guestworkers for Odom
Odom Farms.
Farms.
20.
20.

At
At all
all times
times relevant
relevant to
to this
this action,
action, Angel
AngelRico
Ricowas
wasacting
actingas
as the

Defendant’s
Defendant’s agent.
agent.
21.
21.

In
2008, the
Plaintiffs planted,
In 2006,
2006, 2007,
2007, and
and 2008,
the Plaintiffs
planted, harvested,
harvested, and/or
and/or packed
packed

sweet
potatoes on
on the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s farm.
farm.
sweet potatoes
22.
22.

Upon the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ arrival
arrivalatatthe
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s farm
farm in
in2006,
2006, 2007,
2007, and
and

2008,
the Defendant
Defendant confiscated
confiscated the
the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ passports.
2008, the
passports.
23.
23.

Each
season,the
theDefendant
Defendantrefused
refusedtotoreturn
returnthe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ passports
until
Each season,
passports until

the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs had
with Odom
had completed their contracts with
Odom Farms.
Farms.
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24.
24.

In order to further control the workers’
workers’ movements,
movements, Angel Rico

sometimes
kept the
the workers’
workers’ passports
passportsuntil
until after
after he
he had
hadreturned
returnedwith
with them
them to
to Mexico.
Mexico.
sometimes kept
25.
25.

At
of the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were
At least
least several
several of
were afraid
afraid to
to leave
leave the Defendant’s farm

and/or
leave their
their jobs
they were
and/or leave
jobs with
with the
the Defendant
Defendant without
withouttheir
theirpassports
passportsbecause
because they
were

reasonably
fearful that,
that, ifif they did, they would be detained
detained by
by immigration
immigration authorities for
reasonably fearful
not carrying
carrying proper documentation.
26.
26.

At
of the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were
At least
least several
several of
were told
told by
by the
the Defendant
Defendant and/or

reasonably
fearedthat
thathe
hewould
wouldreport
reportthem
themtotoimmigration
immigration authorities
authorities ifif they left the
reasonably feared
farm before their contracts were finished.
27.
27.

The Defendant told at least
least one
one of
of the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs that he had
had to
to finish
finish his

contract
contract and
and could
could only
onlyleave
leave the
the farm
farmwhen
whenthe
theseason
season ended.
ended.

28.
28.

Upon the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ arrival
arrivalatatthe
thefarm,
farm,the
theDefendant
Defendant subjected
subjected them to

rules that restricted
restricted their
their movement and
and isolated
isolated them
themphysically
physically from the surrounding

community. The
were not
not limited
limited to,
to, the
the following:
following:
The restrictions
restrictions included, but were
a. The
TheDefendant
Defendanttold
toldthe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffsthat
thatthey
theycould
couldnot
notleave
leave the
the farm,
farm, even
even
to
drink or
unless Angel
Angel Rico was
to walk
walk down
down the
the road
road to
to purchase
purchase aa drink
or aa phone
phone card,
card, unless
was
escorting
escorting them.
them.

b. The
ThePlaintiffs
Plaintiffswere
werenot
notallowed
allowedtotoleave
leavethe
themetal
metalshed
shed where
where they
they were
sleeping, except
except when
when they
they went
went to
to work
work in the fields or when Angel
Angel Rico
Rico escorted
escorted
them. IfIfaaworker
workerventured
venturedoutside
outsidethe
the poorly
poorlyventilated
ventilatedshed
shed to
toget
get some
some air, the

Defendant would yell
yell at
at the worker and tell him
him to
to get
get back inside.
29.
29.

The
The Defendant explained to the
the workers that
that he
he did not
not want
want anyone
anyone to

know they were living
living on
on the farm.
30.
30.

Because
of these
theserestrictions,
restrictions, the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs were worked into
Because of
into aa state
state of fear
fear

and
did not
not feel
farm, or
to leave
their metal
during the
the time
time
and did
feel free
free to
to leave
leave the
the farm,
or even
even to
leave their
metal shed,
shed, during

they worked for
for the
the Defendant.
31.
31.

The
Defendant often
often verbally
workers and
frequently cursed
The Defendant
verbally abused
abused the
the workers
and frequently
cursed

them. As
As aa result,
result, the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were
were careful
careful not
not to
to do
do anything
anything to
to make
make him angry.
32.
32.

The Defendant
Defendant threatened
threatenedthe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffsthat,
that,ififthey
theyleft
leftwithout
without finishing
finishing

their
so that
that they
they would
would never
their contracts,
contracts, he
he could
could stamp
stamp their
their passports
passports so
never again
again be
be able
able to
to

obtain H-2A
H-2A visas
visas or work
work in
inthe
the United
UnitedStates
States legally.
legally. This
Thisrepresentation
representation was
was false.
false.

Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ Original
OriginalComplaint
Complaint- -Page
Page 4 of 16

Document hosted at
http://www.jdsupra.com/post/documentViewer.aspx?fid=0f943b5b-4157-4c25-a9c2-20a0fd5a21eb

33.
33.

The Plaintiffs speak
little or no English.
English. While
speak little
Whileemployed
employed by
by the
the

Defendant,
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were
Defendant, the
were not
not able
able to
to communicate
communicate with
withnon-Spanish-speakers
non-Spanish-speakers near
near

the farm without
without the
of Angel
Angel Rico.
the assistance
assistance of
34.
34.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs depend
the availability
availability of
depend on the
of H-2A
H-2Aprogram
programjobs
jobseach
each year

to provide for
and their
their families.
families.
for themselves
themselves and
35.
35.

All
Allof
ofthe
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffstook
tookout
outlarge
large loans
loans in Mexico
Mexico in
in order
order to pay

recruitment and
and travel
travel expenses
expensesfor
forwork
workatatthe
theDefendant’s
Defendant’sfarm.
farm. The
The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs
expected
to use
usethe
theincome
incomethey
theywould
would earn
earnfrom
from their
their employment
employment with the Defendant to
expected to
pay
loans back.
back.
pay those
those loans

36.
36.

As
result of
described above,
above, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs
As aa result
of the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s actions
actions as
as described

reasonably
placed in
in removal proceedings
reasonably believed that they could be
be placed
proceedings and/or would lose
lose

their ability
legally if they did not continue to work for the
ability to
to return
return to
to the
the United States
States legally
Defendant
Defendant through the
the end of their
their contracts.
contracts.
37.
37.

The Defendant’s actions
actions compelled
compelled the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs to
to continue
continue to
to work
work for

the
miserable, unlawful
unlawful conditions
the Defendant under miserable,
conditionstotoavoid
avoidthe
theconsequences
consequences they

reasonably
fearedwould
wouldfollow
follow ifif they
reasonably feared
they tried
tried to
to leave
leave the farm.
38.
38.

In order to travel to
begin work
work for
to Arkansas
Arkansas and begin
for the
the Defendant in 2006,

2007, and
and 2008,
2008, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were required to incur
including but not
incur various
various expenses,
expenses, including
limited
Arkansas from
from
limited to
tovisa
visafees,
fees, recruitment
recruitment and
and hiring
hiringexpenses,
expenses, and
and transportation to Arkansas

their villages in Mexico.
39.
39.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs also
during their travel
also incurred
incurred costs
costs for daily
daily subsistence
subsistence during

to
to Arkansas.
Arkansas.
40.
40.

But for
Plaintiffs
for the
the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’employment
employment with
withthe
the Defendant,
Defendant, the Plaintiffs

would
would not
not have
have incurred
incurredthe
theexpenses
expenses delineated
delineated in
in paragraphs
paragraphs 38
38 and
and 39.
39.

41.
41.

The
incurred by
by the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs and
The expenses
expenses incurred
and delineated
delineated in
in paragraphs
paragraphs 38
38

and 39
39 were
were necessary
necessarytotothe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ employment with
with the
the Defendant.
42.
42.

The
incurred by
by the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs and
The expenses
expenses incurred
and delineated
delineated in
in paragraphs
paragraphs 38
38

and 39
39 primarily
primarily benefited
benefited the
the Defendant.
43.
43.

The
Defendant did
did not
The Defendant
not reimburse
reimburse the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsfor
forthe
theexpenses
expenses delineated
delineated

in
39.
in paragraphs
paragraphs 38
38 and
and 39.
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44.
44.

The
described in
in paragraphs
paragraphs 38
38 and
and 39
39 functioned
functioned as
de facto
facto
The expenses
expenses described
as de

deductions
from the
the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ wages
during their first workweeks with
deductions from
wages during
with the
the Defendant in
2006,
2008.
2006, 2007,
2007, and
and 2008.

45.
45.

The
in paragraphs
38 and
and 39
39 caused
causedthe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs to
to
The deductions
deductions described
described in
paragraphs 38

earn
lessthan
thanthe
thefederally
federallymandated
mandatedminimum
minimumwage
wageduring
duringtheir
theirfirst
first workweeks
workweeks with
with
earn less
the
Defendant in
in 2006,
the Defendant
2006, 2007,
2007, and
and 2008.
2008.
46.
46.

In 2006, 2007, and
and 2008,
2008, the
the Defendant
Defendantfailed
failed to
to provide
provide the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs

with
with copies
copies of their work
work contracts.
contracts.
47.
47.

In 2006, 2007, and
and 2008,
2008, the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s contracts
contractswith
with the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs

included,
included, among
among other
other terms:
terms:

a. The
Theterms
termslisted
listedininthe
theclearance
clearance orders filed with
with the
the U.S.
U.S. Department of
Labor by
by the Defendant;

b. The
Theterms
termslaid
laidout
outininthe
theU.S.
U.S. Department
Department of Labor’s
Labor’s regulations
regulations
governing the issuance
issuanceof
ofthe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ H-2A visas;

c. The
eachPlaintiff’s
Plaintiff’s work
Thelength
lengthofofthe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’contracts
contractsas
as stated
stated on each
visa
visa for
for each
each year
year worked; and
and
1
d.
setforth
forthinin2020
C.F.R.
§
d. The
Theassurances
assurances set
C.F.R.
§ 655.103.
655.103.1
48.
On information
information and
48.
and belief,
belief, in
inhis
his2006,
2006, 2007,
2007, and
and 2008 contracts with the

Plaintiffs,
Plaintiffs, the
the Defendant specifically offered the Plaintiffs terms of work
work that included:
a. Free,
Free,clean
cleanhousing
housingmeeting
meetingthe
the applicable
applicablehousing
housing standards;
standards;

b. Free,
Free,employer-provided
employer-providedtransportation
transportationfor
forgrocery
grocerypurchases;
purchases;

c. Employment
Employmentfor
foratatleast
least3/4
3/4ofofthe
theworkdays
workdays from
fromthe
the first
firstdate
date the
Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs arrived
arrived at
at the
the place
place of
of employment
employment until
untilthe
the contract’s
contract’send
end date;
date;

d. Payment
Paymentbiweekly,
biweekly,on
onevery
everyother
other Saturday;
Saturday;
e. Adequate
each payroll
payroll period;
Adequateearnings
earningsstatements
statements each

f. Hourly
pay
equal
Hourly
pay
equaltotothe
thehigher
higherofofthe
theminimum
minimumwage,
wage,the
theadverse
adverse effect
wage
rate, or
or the
the prevailing
prevailing wage
wage rate,
wage rate;
rate;
1 The numbering for the regulations governing the H-2A program is currently in flux. Plaintiffs herein
1
The numbering for the regulations governing the H-2A program is currently in flux. Plaintiffs herein cite
cite
to
the
as itit was
was in
in effect during the
to
the Code of Federal
Federal Regulations as
the time
time period
period relevant
relevant to
to this
this case.
case.
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g. Reimbursement
Reimbursementfor
forthe
thecost
costofoftransportation
transportationand
andsubsistence
subsistence from the

place
of recruitment to the
the place
placeof
of employment
employmentupon
uponthe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ completion of
place of
50% of the work contract period;
h. Reimbursement
Reimbursementfor
forthe
thecost
costofofreturn
returntransportation
transportationand
and subsistence
subsistence from

the place
place of
of employment
employment to
to the
the place
placeof
of recruitment
recruitment upon
uponthe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ completion

of the work contract;

transportation complying
complying with
with
i. Employer-provided housing-to-worksite transportation
applicable
regulations;
applicable laws
laws and
and regulations;
that the
the Defendant
Defendant would
would maintain
j. An
An assurance
assurance that
maintainadequate
adequate records;
records; and
and

k. An
Anassurance
assurancethat
thatthe
theDefendant
Defendant would
wouldnot
notretaliate,
retaliate,threaten,
threaten, coerce,
coerce,
blacklist,
discriminate against
who has
has with
with just
blacklist, discharge,
discharge, or
or in
in any
any manner
manner discriminate
against anyone
anyone who
cause
consulted with
with an attorney an employee of
of a legal services program about rights
cause consulted

or
H-2A program
or protections
protections under
under the H-2A
program or
orexercised
exercised or
or asserted
asserted rights or protections

under the
the H-2A
H-2A program.
49.
49.

On information
information and
contracts with
with the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs
and belief, the Defendant’s contracts

also
provided that
that the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs would only be terminated
terminated for
for (a)
(a) refusal
refusal without
without justified
justified
also provided
cause
to perform
perform work;
work; (b) serious
misconduct; or
or (c) failure to meet production
cause to
serious misconduct;
standards
after completing
completing aa training
training or break-in period.
standards after
50.
50.

The housing provided to the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs by
by the
the Defendant
Defendant is governed by

federal
found at 29 C.F.R. § 1910.142 (the Occupational Safety
federal housing
housing standards
standards found
Safety and
and

Health Administration
Administrationmigrant
migrantlabor
laborcamp
campstandards)
standards) and/or
and/or at
at 20 C.F.R. §§ 654.404-17

(the Employment and Training Administration
Administrationhousing
housingstandards).
standards).
51.
51.

Upon arrival
arrival in
in Arkansas,
Arkansas, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsand
and their
their coworkers
coworkers were
were made
made to

live
full of
in which the
live in
in aa concrete-and-metal
concrete-and-metal packing
packing shed
shed full
of sweet
sweet potatoes
potatoes –- aa space
space in
the

Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs also
also worked.
52.
52.

The housing provided to the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs by
by the
the Defendant
Defendant failed
failed to
to meet
meet

applicable
safety standards
standards for
for many
many reasons,
reasons,including,
including, but
but not
not
applicable housing
housing and
and health
health and
and safety

limited
of the
thefollowing
following conditions:
limited to,
to, the
the presence
presence of
a. The
and aa foulfoulTheshed
shedwas
wasinfested
infestedwith
withsnakes,
snakes, flies
fliesand
and other
other insects,
insects, rats, and
smelling
of worm attracted by the sweet
sweet potatoes.
potatoes. The Defendant
Defendant failed
failed to
smelling species
species of
take
reasonable measures
measuresto
to prevent
prevent or
or treat
treat these
these infestations.
infestations.
take reasonable
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b.
and conditions.
conditions.
b. The
Theshed
shedharbored
harboreddangerous
dangerous substances
substances and

c. Some
Someofofthe
thebedrooms
bedroomsininthe
theshed
shed had
had only
only one
one door.

d. The
TheDefendant
Defendantfailed
failedtotoprovide
provide the
the workers with first aid or fire
extinguishing equipment.
e. The
Theshed
shedwas
wasfilthy
filthyand
andthe
theDefendant
Defendantfailed
failedtototake
takereasonable
reasonable steps
steps to

clean any
any part
part of
of the
the shed
shedduring
duringthe
thetime
timethe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs occupied
occupied it.
it. The
The shed’s
shed’s main
area
was filled
filled with
area was
with machinery
machineryand
and sweet
sweet potatoes.
potatoes. The
The bathroom
bathroom and
and showers
showers were
were
in
in particularly
particularlybad
badcondition,
condition,and
andthe
theentrance
entrance to
to one
one of
of the
the bathrooms
bathrooms was
was almost
almost

completely
the drains
drains did
did not
not function
function
completely blocked
blocked by
by boxes
boxes of
of sweet
sweet potatoes.
potatoes. Because
Because the
properly
and plywood
plywood planks
properly in
in either
either the
the bathrooms
bathrooms or
or shower,
shower, cardboard
cardboard and
planks were
were put
put

down on the
the floor
floor to soak
up liquids.
liquids. The
soak up
The kitchen
kitchen was
was dirty
dirty and
and poorly
poorly maintained.
maintained.

f.

The
temperature and
andventilation
ventilation in the
shed made
madethe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ housing
The temperature
the shed
housing

unbearable.
was unheated
unheatedand
andgrew
grewextremely
extremelycold
coldin
in the
the fall
fall and
and winter,
winter,
unbearable. The
The shed
shed was

when the temperature
temperature lows
lows were
were regularly
regularly in the thirties and forties. The
Theshed
shed was

also unventilated and
and became
becameextremely
extremelyhot
hotin
inthe
thesummer
summerand
andearly
earlyfall.
fall. Only
Only one
of
had windows to
of the
the bedrooms
bedrooms had
to the
the outside;
outside; the
the other two bedrooms
bedrooms had no exterior

windows. The
Theshed’s
shed’s bathroom
bathroom had
had no windows and no ventilation. Because
Because the
workers
shed unless
unlessthey
theywere
wereworking
working or
workers were
were not
not allowed
allowed to
tobe
be seen
seen outside the shed

escorted,
they were
were forced
forced to
to spend
spendall
all their
their time inside in
escorted, they
in the
the sweltering
sweltering heat
heat when
when

they were not
not laboring
laboring in the fields.
g. The
Theshed
shedlacked
lackedthe
the basic
basic housing comforts required by applicable

regulations.
provided no
no proper
properbeds
bedsfor
forthe
thePlaintiffs—only
Plaintiffs—onlyfilthy
filthy
regulations. The
The Defendant
Defendant provided
mattresses,
which sat
sat directly
directly on
mattresses, which
on the
the bare
bare floors and
and were
were crowded
crowded close
close to
to one
one

another.
for hanging
hanging clothing
clothing
another. The
The Defendant
Defendant failed
failed to
to provide
provideseparate
separate arrangements
arrangements for

and
storing personal
personaleffects.
effects. The
The Defendant
Defendantdid
did not
not provide
provide the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs with any
and storing
toilet
toilet tissue.
tissue. The
The Defendant
Defendant provided
provided more
more than
than 20 workers with
with just
just one
one stove,
stove,
whose
top needed
needed to
to be
bepropped
proppedup
upwith
with metal
metal and
and plywood
plywood when
whose top
when itit began
began to
to sag
sag
from
for such
large group,
group, the
from heavy
heavy use.
use. Because
Because one
one stove
stove was
was inadequate
inadequate for
such aa large
the

workers
to purchase
purchase aasmall
smallpropane
propanecamping
campingstove.
stove. The
The workers
workers divided
divided
workers had
had to
themselves
into groups
and rotated
rotated among
among the
the stoves,
stoves,sometimes
sometimeswaiting
waiting until
until late
themselves into
groups and
late at
at

night for
for aa turn
turn to
to cook
cook supper.
supper.
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53.
53.

The Plaintiffs were constantly
constantly physically
physically uncomfortable
uncomfortablewhile
while living
living in

these
conditions. At
these conditions.
Atleast
least one
one Plaintiff
PlaintiffPlaintiffs
Plaintiffsdeveloped
developedaarash
rash from
fromthe
thesubstandard
substandard

conditions in the housing. The
The overpowering
overpowering forklift
forkliftfumes
fumescaused
causedgave
gave several
several
Plaintiffs
and eye
eyeirritation.
irritation.
Plaintiffs sore
sore throats,
throats, coughs, and
54.
54.

The Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ housing
Plaintiffs feel as
if they
housing conditions
conditions made
made several
several Plaintiffs
as if

were
being imprisoned
imprisoned or
up like
like animals.
were being
or penned
penned up
animals.
55.
55.

Attempting
including the
Attempting to
to tolerate
tolerate the
the housing,
housing, the workers themselves,
themselves, including

Plaintiffs,
time each
week cleaning
cleaning the
the kitchen,
kitchen,
Plaintiffs,set
set up
up aa cleaning
cleaning schedule
schedule and
and spent
spent time
each week

bathroom, and
and common
common areas.
areas.The
ThePlaintiffs
Plaintiffswere
werenot
notpaid
paidfor
forthis
thiscleaning
cleaningwork.
work. The

workers also did electrical work
work on the housing for which
which they
they were
were not paid.
56.
56.

The
charged the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs fees
for transporting
The Defendant charged
fees in exchange
exchange for

them
them to shop
shop for food
food and
and other
other necessities.
necessities.

57.
57.

The Defendant
Defendant did
did not pay the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs biweekly
biweekly as
as promised.

58.
58.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were
were not
not provided
providedwith
withproper
properearnings
earningsstatements.
statements.

59.
59.

In 2006, 2007, and 2008,
2008, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were paid hourly
hourly rates
rates below the

applicable
for Arkansas.
applicable adverse
adverse effect wage
wage rates
rates for
Arkansas.

60.
60.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs were
were not paid for
for all
all of
oftheir
theircompensable
compensable travel time.

61.
61.

The Defendant
Defendant failed
failed to reimburse
reimburse the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs for
for the
the cost of

transportation
subsistencefrom
from Arkansas
Arkansas back
back to
to the
the places
placesin
in Mexico
Mexico where
transportation and
and subsistence
where they

were
were recruited.
62.
62.

Each
day, the
the Defendant
Defendant transported
transportedthe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs to the fields in
Each day,
in the
the back
back

of an overcrowded van with no seats.
seats. At
At times,
times, 20
20 to
to 25
25 workers were crowded into the
van,
with sharp
van, together with
sharp tools
tools and
and machinery.
63.
63.

On information
information and
and belief,
belief, the
the Defendant
Defendant failed
failed to
tomaintain
maintainadequate
adequate

records
as required
required by
by 20
20 C.F.R.
C.F.R. §§ 655.102(b)(7).
655.102(b)(7).
records as
64.
64.

By
the Defendant
Defendant
By their
their actions
actions and
and omissions
omissions as
as described
described above,
above, the

breached
their contracts
contractswith
with the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs by, inter alia:
breached their

a. Failing
Failingtotoprovide
providefree,
free,clean
cleanhousing
housingmeeting
meetingthe
the applicable
applicable federal
housing
housing standards;
standards;

b. Failing
Failingtotoprovide
providefree
freetransportation
transportationfor
forpurchases
purchasesof
ofgroceries
groceries and
and other
necessities;
necessities;
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c. Failing
Failingtotopay
paythe
the Plaintiffs biweekly;
d. Failing
Failingtotoprovide
providethe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffswith
withearnings
earningsstatements;
statements;
e. Failing
rate for
for all
Failingtotopay
paythe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffsatatleast
leastthe
theadverse
adverse effect wage rate
hours worked;

f. Failing
toto
reimburse
Failing
reimbursethe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffsfor
forthe
thecost
costofoftransportation
transportation and
and
subsistence
from the
the place
place of
of their
their recruitment
recruitment to
of employment,
subsistence from
to the
the place
place of
employment, despite
despite

the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ completion
completion of
of 50%
50% of
of the
the work
work contract
contract period;
g. Failing
Failingtotoreimburse
reimbursethe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffsfor
forthe
thecost
costofofreturn
returntransportation
transportation and
and
subsistence
from the
the place
place of
of employment
employment to
of recruitment,
subsistence from
to the
the place
place of
recruitment, despite
despite the
the

Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ completion
completion of
of the
the work
work contract;
contract;

h. Failing
Failingtotoprovide
providehousing-to-worksite
housing-to-worksite transportation
transportation complying with
applicable
applicable laws
laws and
and regulations;
regulations; and
and

i. Failing
Failing to
to maintain
maintainadequate
adequate records.
records.
65.
65.

In
In 2008,
2008, Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
Jose Guadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos
Cuarenta-Ramos consulted with an
an

employee of Southern
Southern Migrant
Migrant Legal Services/Texas
RioGrande Legal
Legal Aid about his
Services/Texas RioGrande
rights and protections under
under the
the H-2A
H-2A program.
66.
66.

The Defendant unlawfully
unlawfully discharged
discharged Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
JoseGuadalupe
Guadalupe CuarentaCuarenta-

Ramos
in retaliation for
Ramos in
for having
having engaged
engaged in such consultation.
67.
67.

During
Plaintiff Jose
During the
the 2008
2008 season,
season, Plaintiff
Jose Guadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos
Cuarenta-Ramos made
made

an informal complaint
the FLSA.
FLSA.
complaint to
to the
the Defendant
Defendant regarding his rights under the
68.
68.

The Defendant unlawfully
unlawfully discharged
discharged Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
JoseGuadalupe
Guadalupe CuarentaCuarenta-

Ramos
becausehe
heengaged
engagedininactivity
activity protected
protected by
by the
the FLSA.
FLSA.
Ramos because
69.
69.

In
In addition
addition to
to breaching
breaching the
the terms
terms listed
listed in
in paragraph
paragraph 64,
64, the
the Defendant
Defendant

breached
his 2008
2008 contract
contract with
with Jose
Cuarenta-Ramos by:
by:
breached his
Jose Guadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos

a.
a. Unlawfully
Unlawfullyfiring
firinghim
himininretaliation
retaliationfor
forengaging
engagingininactivity
activityprotected
protected
under
the Immigration
Immigration and
and Nationality
Nationality Act;
Act; and
under the
and

b. Failing
Failingtotooffer
offerhim
himemployment
employmentfor
foratatleast
least3/4
3/4 of
ofthe
the workdays
workdays from
from the
the
first
first date
date he arrived at the Defendant’s farm in 2008 until
untilthe
the contract’s
contract’s end
end date.
date.
70.
70.

In 2006, 2007,
2007, and
and 2008,
2008,the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs fully
fully performed their obligations

under
their contracts
with the
under their
contracts with
the Defendant.
Defendant.
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71.
71.

The Defendant’s agent,
agent, Angel
Angel Rico, coerced
coerced the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs to pay him

“recruitment fees.”
72.
72.

The
Defendant knew
knew or
or should
known that
Angel Rico
The Defendant
should have
have known
that Angel
Rico charged
charged the
the

workers
workers these
these fees.
fees.

73.
73.

These
fees operated
operatedas
asde
defacto
factodeductions
deductionsfrom
fromthe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ wages
These fees
wages

during several of their workweeks
workweeks with
withthe
the Defendant,
Defendant, causing
causing the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsto
toearn
earn less
less
than the
the federally
federally mandated
mandated minimum
minimum wage during several
several of
of their workweeks.

FIRST CAUSE
CAUSE OF
OF ACTION
ACTION
TRAFFICKING
VICTIMS
PROTECTION
TRAFFICKING VICTIMS PROTECTIONACT
ACT- –TRAFFICKING
TRAFFICKING
18 U.S.C. § 1590
74.
74.

The
Plaintiffs reincorporate
through 71
71 of
of this
this
The Plaintiffs
reincorporate and
and re-allege
re-allege paragraphs
paragraphs 11 through

Complaint as
fully set
as ifif fully
set forth
forth herein.
herein.
75.
75.

Under 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 1590,
1590,“recruit[ing],
“recruit[ing], harbor[ing], transport[ing],

provid[ing],
violation of
provid[ing], or
or obtain[ing].
obtain[ing].. .. .any
anyperson
person for labor or services” in violation
of 18
18 U.S.C.
§§ 1581-94
1581-94 is
is unlawful.
unlawful.
76.
76.

18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 1592
1592prohibits
prohibits“knowingly
“knowingly destroy[ing], conceal[ing],

remov[ing],
course of
of violating
violating or
remov[ing], confiscate[ing],
confiscate[ing],or
orpossess[ing]”
possess[ing]” any
any passport
passport in the course
attempting to violate TVPA
TVPA provisions
provisionsincluding
including18
18U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§1589
1589and
and 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. § 1590.
77.
77.

By
the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ passports
By knowingly
knowinglyconfiscating
confiscatingand
andpossessing
possessing the
passports in

2006,
and 2008,
2008, the
the Defendant
Defendantviolated
violated 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 1592
1592 in
in the
the course
courseof
of violating
violating
2006, 2007, and

or
or attempting
attempting to
to violate
violate 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§
§§ 1589
1589 and
and 1590.
1590.
78.
78.

The Defendant’s
Defendant’s violation
violation of
constituted aa violation
violation of
of 18
18 U.S.C. § 1592 constituted

18
18 U.S.C. §§ 1590.
1590.
79.
79.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs suffered
result of
of the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s violation
violation of 18
suffered harm
harm as aa result

U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 1590.
1590.
80.
80.

Pursuant
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 1595,
1595, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsseek
seek to
torecover
recoverthe
the damages
damages

they suffered as
as aaresult
resultof
of the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s violation.
violation.

SECOND
CAUSE OF
OF ACTION
ACTION
SECOND CAUSE
TRAFFICKING
TRAFFICKINGVICTIMS
VICTIMSPROTECTION
PROTECTIONACT
ACT- –FORCED
FORCEDLABOR
LABOR
18 U.S.C § 1589
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81.
81.

The
Plaintiffs reincorporate
through 71
71 of
of this
this
The Plaintiffs
reincorporate and
and re-allege
re-allege paragraphs
paragraphs 11 through

Complaint as
fully set
as ifif fully
set forth
forth herein.
herein.
82.
82.

Under 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§1589,
1589,ititisisunlawful
unlawfulto
to“knowingly
“knowingly provid[e] or

obtain[n]
of serious
harm or
or threats
of
obtain[n] the
the labor
labor or
orservices
services of
of aa person
person .. .. .. (2)
(2) by
by means
means of
serious harm
threats of
serious
harm to
serious harm
to that
that person
person or
or another
another person;
person; (3)
(3) by
bymeans
means of
of the
the abuse
abuse or
or threatened
threatened

abuse
of law
law or
or (4)
of any
plan, or
or pattern
intended to
to
abuse of
or legal
legal process;
process; or
(4) by
by means
means of
any scheme,
scheme, plan,
pattern intended

cause
the person
personto
tobelieve
believethat,
that,ifif that
that person
person did
did not
not perform
perform such
labor or
cause the
such labor
or services,
services, that
that

person
or another
another person
personwould
would suffer
suffer serious
serious harm
harm or
or physical
physical restraint.”
restraint.”
person or
83.
83.

In
that they
they would
would never
In threatening
threatening to
to stamp
stamp workers’
workers’ passports
passports so
so that
never be
be

able to return to the
the U.S.
U.S. legally,
legally, the Defendant knowingly
knowingly obtained
obtained the
the labor
labor and
and

services
of the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs by threatening them
them with
with serious
serious harm,
harm, in
in violation
violation of 18 U.S.C.
services of
§ 1589(2).
84.
84.

In telling
telling the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsthat
thathe
he and/or
and/or Angel
AngelRico
Ricohad
had the
the power
power to
to stamp
stamp

workers’
so that
that they
they would
would never be
be able
able to
to return
return to
to the
the U.S.
U.S. legally,
legally, in
workers’ passports
passports so

forcing
forcing the
the workers
workers to
to go
go on
on shopping trips without
withoutthe
the documents
documents they were required by

law to carry, and in holding
so that
that they
they could
could not
not travel
travel without
without
holding the
the workers’
workers’ passports
passports so
fear of deportation, the Defendant knowingly
knowingly obtained
obtained the
the labor
labor and
and services
services of the

Plaintiffs
of law or legal process,
process,in
in violation
violation of 18
Plaintiffs by
by threatening
threatening them
them with
with the
the abuse
abuse of
U.S.C. § 1589(3).
85.
85.

By
linguistic isolation
By subjecting the Plaintiffs to
to physical
physical and linguistic
isolation and
and verbal

intimidation,
intimidation,by
byconfiscating
confiscatingthe
thePlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’passports,
passports,and
and by
byfalsely
falselystating
statingthat
that he
he had
had

the power to forever bar
bar the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs from legally
legally returning
returningto
tothe
the U.S.,
U.S., the
the Defendant
Defendant
knowingly
knowinglyobtained
obtained the
the labor
labor and
and services
services of the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsthrough
throughaa scheme,
scheme, plan, or
pattern
causeand
anddid
didcause
causethe
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs to
to believe
believe that
that they
they would
would
pattern that was intended to cause

suffer serious
harm ifif they did not perform such labor or services,
services,in
in violation
violation of 18
serious harm
U.S.C. § 1589(4).
86.
86.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs suffered
result of
of the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s violation
violation of 18
suffered harm
harm as aa result

U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 1589.
1589.
87.
87.

Pursuant
to 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §
Pursuant to
§ 1595,
1595, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsseek
seek to
torecover
recoverthe
the damages
damages

they suffered as
as aaresult
resultof
of the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s violation.
violation.
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THIRD
ACTION
THIRD CAUSE
CAUSE OF ACTION
FAIR LABOR
ACT –- MINIMUM
MINIMUM WAGE
LABOR STANDARDS
STANDARDS ACT
WAGE
29 U.S.C. § 206(a)
88.
88.

The
Plaintiffs reincorporate
through 71
71 of
of this
The Plaintiffs
reincorporate and
and re-allege
re-allege paragraphs
paragraphs 11 through

Complaint as
fully set
as ifif fully
set forth
forth herein.
herein.
89.
89.

The
The Defendant failed to
to pay
pay the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsat
at least
least the
the federally
federally mandated
mandated

minimum
compensablehour
hourthey
theyworked
workedin
inaaworkweek,
workweek,in
in violation
violation of
minimum wage
wage for
for each
each compensable
29
29 U.S.C. §§ 206(a).
206(a).
90.
90.

The Defendant’s
Defendant’s violation
violation of the minimum wage
provision of the FLSA
wage provision

was
willful within
was willful
withinthe
themeaning
meaning of
of29
29 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 255(a).
255(a).
91.
91.

The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs suffered
as aaresult
resultof
ofthe
theDefendant’s
Defendant’sviolation
violation of
suffered damages
damages as

29
29 U.S.C. §§ 206(a).
206(a).
92.
92.

For these
these violations,
violations, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs are
are entitled
entitled to
to their
their unpaid
unpaid minimum
minimum

wages,
an equal
equal amount
amount in
in liquidated
liquidated damages,
and costs
costs of
of court,
court, pursuant to 29 U.S.C.
wages, an
damages, and

§ 216(b). The
The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsfurther
furtherseek
seekaadeclaratory
declaratoryjudgment
judgment stating
stating that
that the
the Defendant
Defendant

violated the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ rights
rights under
under the FLSA.

FOURTH CAUSE OF
OF ACTION
ACTION
FAIR LABOR
ACT –- RETALIATION
RETALIATION
LABOR STANDARDS
STANDARDS ACT
29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3)
BY
GUADALUPE CUARENTA-RAMOS
BY PLAINTIFF
PLAINTIFF JOSE
JOSE GUADALUPE
93.
93.

Plaintiffs
through 71 of this
Plaintiffsreincorporate
reincorporate and
and re-allege
re-allege paragraphs
paragraphs 11 through

Complaint as
fully set
as ifif fully
set forth
forth herein.
herein.
94.
94.

The Defendant intentionally
intentionally retaliated
retaliated against
against Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
Jose Guadalupe
Guadalupe

Cuarenta-Ramos
becausehe
heengaged
engaged
activityprotected
protectedby
bythe
theFLSA,
FLSA,ininviolation
violation of 29
Cuarenta-Ramos because
ininactivity
29

U.S.C. § 215(a)(3).
95.
95.

Plaintiff
result of
of the
PlaintiffJose
Jose Guadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos
Cuarenta-Ramos suffered
suffered harm
harm as
as aa result
the

Defendant’s
unlawful retaliation.
Defendant’s unlawful
96.
96.

For this violation,
violation,Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
JoseGuadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos
Cuarenta-Ramos is entitled to

his
an equal
equal amount
amount in
in liquidated
costs of
of court,
court, pursuant
to 29
his lost
lost wages,
wages, an
liquidated damages,
damages, and
and costs
pursuant to
29

U.S.C.
declaratory
U.S.C. §§ 216(b).
216(b). Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
JoseGuadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos
Cuarenta-Ramos further
further seeks
seeks aa declaratory

judgment stating that the Defendant
Defendant violated
violated his rights under the
the FLSA.
FLSA.
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FIFTH
OF ACTION
ACTION
FIFTH CAUSE
CAUSE OF
BREACH OF CONTRACT
97.
97.

The
Plaintiffs reincorporate
through 71
71 of
of this
The Plaintiffs
reincorporate and
and re-allege
re-allege paragraphs
paragraphs 11 through

Complaint as
fully set
as ifif fully
set forth
forth herein.
herein.
98.
98.

The Defendant
Defendant entered
enteredinto
into employment
employment contracts
contractswith
with the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs in

2006,
2008.
2006, 2007,
2007, and
and 2008.

99.
99.

The
Plaintiffs accepted
and conditions
conditions offered by
The Plaintiffs
accepted the
the terms
terms and
by the
the Defendant
Defendant

in
in such
such contracts.
contracts.

100.
100.

The
breachedsuch
suchemployment
employmentcontracts
contractswith
with the
thePlaintiffs
Plaintiffs by
The Defendant breached

failing
failing to
to comply
complywith
withthe
thepromised
promised terms
terms and
and conditions of employment.
101.
101.

The Plaintiffs were at all times ready,
ready, willing,
willing, and
and able to comply with the

terms of the employment contracts
contracts and
anddid
did in
in fact
fact comply with
with the
the terms.
terms.
102.
102.

As
of the
the Defendant’s
Defendant’s breach
breach of
of the employment
As aa direct
direct consequence
consequence of

contracts,
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs suffered harm.
contracts, the
103.
103.

The
The Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsseek
seek damages
damages for the
the harm
harm they
they have
have suffered
suffered as
as a result of

the
Defendant’s breach
of contract.
the Defendant’s
breach of
contract.

PRAYER FOR
FOR RELIEF
RELIEF
104.
104.

WHEREFORE,
WHEREFORE, the
the Plaintiffs
Plaintiffsrespectfully
respectfullyrequest
request that
that the
the Court grant

them
thefollowing
following relief:
them the
a.
a. Declare
Declarethat
thatthe
theDefendant,
Defendant,by
byhis
hisacts
actsand
andomissions
omissions described
described above,
above,

violated the Plaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ rights
rights under
under the
the minimum
minimum wage
wage provisions of the FLSA
FLSA at
at 29
U.S.C.
206(a);
U.S.C. §§ 206(a);
b.
b. Declare
Declarethat
thatthe
theDefendant,
Defendant,by
byhis
hisacts
actsand
andomissions
omissions described
described above,
above,
violated
rights under
violated Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
Jose Guadalupe
Guadalupe Cuarenta-Ramos’s
Cuarenta-Ramos’s rights
under 29
29 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§

215(a)(3);
c.
c. Declare
Declarethat
thatthe
theDefendant,
Defendant,by
byhis
hisacts
actsand
andomissions
omissionsdescribed
described above,
above,
violated
violated 18
18 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§
§§ 1589
1589 and
and 1590;
1590;

d.
d. Declare
Declarethat
thatthe
theDefendant,
Defendant,by
byhis
hisacts
actsand
andomissions
omissions described
described above,
above,

breached
thevarious
variouscontracts
contractsentered
enteredinto
intowith
withPlaintiffs;
Plaintiffs;
breached the
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e.
e. Award
Awardfurther
furtherdeclaratory
declaratory relief;
f. Award
compensatory
Award
compensatoryand
andpunitive
punitivedamages;
damages;
g. Award
the FLSA;
FLSA;
Awardliquidated
liquidateddamages
damagesas
as authorized by the

h. Award
AwardPlaintiffs
Plaintiffsprepre-and
andpostpost-judgment
judgmentinterest
interestas
as allowed
allowed by
by law
law and
and
costs
of court;
court; and
costs of
and

i. Grant
Grant further
further relief
reliefas
as this
this Court
Courtdeems
deems just
just and
and equitable.
equitable.
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Respectfully submitted,

Sarah
E. Donaldson
Donaldson
Sarah E.
Tex. Bar No. 24065158

Motion
Motion to
to Appear
Appear Pro Hac Vice Filed

TEXAS RIOGRANDE
RIOGRANDE LEGAL
LEGAL AID, INC.
300 South Texas
Texas Blvd.
Blvd.
Weslaco,
78596
Weslaco, Texas
Texas 78596
Tel.: (956) 447-4800
Fax:
Fax: (956) 968-8823
sdonaldson@trla.org
sdonaldson@trla.org

Melody
Melody Fowler-Green
Fowler-Green
Tenn. Bar No. 023266
Motion
Motion to
to Appear
Appear Pro Hac Vice Forthcoming
SOUTHERN
MIGRANT LEGAL
SOUTHERN MIGRANT
LEGAL SERVICES
SERVICES
A PROJECT
OFTEXAS
TEXASRIOGRANDE
RIOGRANDELEGAL
LEGAL AID,
AID, INC.
PROJECT OF
311
Plus
Park
Blvd.,
Ste.
135
311 Plus Park Blvd., Ste. 135
Nashville, TN
TN 37217
37217
Tel.: (615) 750-1200
Fax: (615) 366-3349
mfgreen@trla.org

Douglas L. Stevick
Tenn. Bar No. 021711
Member of the Bar of
District of
of the Eastern
Eastern District
of Arkansas
Arkansas
SOUTHERN
MIGRANT LEGAL
SOUTHERN MIGRANT
LEGAL SERVICES
SERVICES
A PROJECT
OFTEXAS
TEXASRIOGRANDE
RIOGRANDELEGAL
LEGAL AID,
AID, INC.
PROJECT OF
311
Plus
Park
Blvd.,
Ste.
135
311 Plus Park Blvd., Ste. 135
Nashville, TN
TN 37217
37217
Tel.: (615) 750-1200
Fax: (615) 366-3349
dstevick@trla.org
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